
Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764626 
e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Committee - CABINET

Date & Time - Tuesday, 23 July 2019 at 10.00 am

Venue - Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Cabinet:

Councillors: The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader), C N Worth (Deputy Leader), 
G J Taylor (Deputy Leader), T A Carter, A Casson, P E Coupland, R Gambba-Jones and  
C J Lawton. 

No substitutions permitted. Quorum 3.

Note: Cabinet reports may be referred to Council or Scrutiny Panels.  They 
should therefore be kept for future reference during the current 
committee cycle.  

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to 

silent mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:   15 July 2019

Public Document Pack

Page 1



A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence. 

2. Minutes - To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 
Cabinet held on 18 June 2019 (copy enclosed).  

(Pages 
5 - 10)

3. Declarations of Interest. - (Where a Councillor has a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest the Councillor must declare the interest to the 
meeting and leave the room without participating in any discussion or 
making a statement on the item, except where a Councillor is permitted 
to remain as a result of a grant of dispensation.)

4. Questions raised by the public under the Council's Constitution 
(Standing Orders). 

5. To consider any matters which have been subject to call-in. 

6. To consider matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels in accordance with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules. 

7. Recycling Review - To review the recycling materials collection in a trial 
area of South Holland (report of the Portfolio Holder Place and 
Executive Director Place enclosed).

(Pages 
11 - 20)

8. Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2020/21 - Consultation - To 
consider options for the local Council Tax Support scheme for 2020/21 
(report of the Portfolio Holder, Finance enclosed). 

(Pages 
21 - 26)

9. Q4 2018-19 Performance Overview Report - To provide an update on 
how the Council is performing for the period 1st January 2019 to 31 
March 2019 (report of the Portfolio Holder Governance and Customer 
enclosed).

(Pages 
27 - 54)

10. Welland Homes Business Plan Update incorporating Bentley Court - To 
present to the Council, as sole shareholder for Welland Homes Ltd, an 
updated Welland Homes Business Plan and a proposal from the 
company to purchase five houses for the purposes of market rental 
investment at Bentley Court, Spalding, and to put in place the necessary 
arrangements to enable the company to move into contract on the 
proposed acquisition, subject to the necessary shareholder approvals 
(report of the Portfolio Holder Housing and Executive Director 
Commercialisation (S151) enclosed).

(Pages 
55 - 64)

11. Any other items which the Leader decides are urgent. - 

Note: (i) No other business is permitted unless by reason of 
special circumstances, which shall be specified in the 
Minutes, the Leader is of the opinion that the item(s) 
should be considered as a matter of urgency.  

Page 2



(ii) Any urgent item of business that is a key decision must 
be dealt with in accordance with the Constitution’s 
Access to Information Procedure Rules.

12. To consider resolving that, under section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act. 

13. Welland Homes Business Plan Update incorporating Bentley Court - 
Appendices A – D (enclosed).

(Pages 
65 - 80)

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Minutes of a meeting of the CABINET held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, 
Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 18 June 2019 at 10.00 am.

PRESENT

C N Worth (Deputy Leader)
G J Taylor (Deputy Leader)

T A Carter A Casson P E Coupland

Cabinet Support Members: H Drury, R Grocock and J McLean.

The Executive Director Strategy and Governance (Monitoring Officer), the Executive 
Director Commercialisation (S151), the Executive Director Place, the Strategic 
Finance and Compliance Manager, the Executive Manager Growth, the Place 
Manager, the Environmental Services Manager, the Economic Development and 
Inward Investment Manager, the Head of Finance (outgoing), the Head of Finance 
(incoming), the Strategic Business Partner (Finance) and the Democratic Services 
Officer.

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors G A Porter, 
R Gambba-Jones, C J Lawton and A R Woolf. 
  
In Attendance:  Councillor B Alcock (Chairman, Performance Monitoring Panel) and 
Councillor A M Newton (Independent Group Leader).

Community Representatives:  Parish Councils.

Action By
1. MINUTES 

The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 12 March 2019 were 
signed by the Deputy Leader as a correct record.

The Cabinet also received the minutes of the meeting of the 
Priory Road Community Hub Project Sub-Committee held on 28 
February 2019.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST. 

There were no declarations of interest.

3. QUESTIONS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC UNDER THE 
COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION (STANDING ORDERS). 

No questions were raised under the Council’s Constitution 
(Standing Orders).

Page 5

Agenda Item 2.



- 2 -

CABINET - 18 June 2019

4. TO CONSIDER ANY MATTERS WHICH HAVE BEEN SUBJECT 
TO CALL-IN. 

There were no matters subject to call-in.

5. MATTERS ARISING FROM THE POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANELS 

There were no matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels.

6. 2018/19 FINANCIAL OUTTURN 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Finance and Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) which 
provided information on the outturn financial position of the 
Council as at 31 March 2019.

In response to when new leisure facilities would be considered in 
the South Holland area, members were advised that surveys on 
facilities and outside space were currently underway.  These 
would last for 12 months.  A consultation was also due to start 
shortly.  Outcomes would be considered at the end of this period 
which would inform future provision.

DECISION:

a) That the report and Appendix A be noted;

b) That the contributions to and use of reserves be agreed in line 
with para 5.5.2 to 5.5.4 and Appendix A, Tables 3 and 4 of the 
report;

RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL:

c) That the net General Fund underspend of £631,859 be 
transferred to the Council Tax Reserve; and

d) That the revised General Fund capital programme of £8.268m 
Appendix A – Table 6 and the revised HRA capital programme 
for 2019/20 of £14.875m Appendix A – Table 8 are approved.

(Other options considered:
 To note the report and not approve the recommendations 

detailed in Appendix A; or
 To do nothing.

Reasons for decision:
 To provide members with information on the Council’s 

Page 6



- 3 -

CABINET - 18 June 2019

overall financial performance in 2018-19 and to provide an 
updated financial position on reserves for 2019-20.)

7. ECONOMIC ACTION PLAN 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Growth and Commercialisation, which presented to members a 
package of proposed activity that had been designed to support 
interventions in respect of Economic Development and Inward 
Investment delivery in South Holland, including the adoption of a 
South Holland Economic Action Plan.

Members questioned how the Authority would measure the 
success of the proposals detailed within the report.  Officers 
confirmed that that the results of the action plan would be 
monitored very closely.  Areas such as the number of jobs 
created, the number of businesses attracting to the district, and 
the value they brought to the economy would all be measured.  

DECISION:

a) That the adoption of the South Holland Economic Action Plan 
and associated work programme be approved, with a view to 
embed the actions contained within as part of the Council’s 
delivery of its wider corporate plan;

b) That the proposed funding for the delivery of the ‘Skills 
Service’ across secondary schools in South Holland for a 12 
month period be approved, whilst a longer term funding 
strategy for the service is developed;

c) That in view of the findings of the ‘Inward Investment 
Communications and Marketing Audit’ as prepared by 
Opportunity Peterborough, implementation of the elements 
contained in paragraph 3.12 of the report, relating to 
communication with businesses within the district be 
approved; and

RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL:

d) That in order to support with the delivery of recommendations 
1,2 and 3, agreed by the Cabinet, and to provide additional 
resilience to the Economic Development and Inward 
Investment team, Council gives consideration to and approves 
the creation of a new Economic Development Officer post.

(Other options considered:
 To approve some or all of the recommendations, with or 

without changes; or

Page 7



- 4 -

CABINET - 18 June 2019

 To do nothing.
Reasons for decision:

 The adoption of the Economic Action Plan would provide 
an evidence based action plan/policy to guide and inform 
the direction of the service;

 The adoption of the communications recommendations 
within the Marketing and Communications Audit would help 
drive improvements in how the Authority communicated 
with key stakeholders on matters relating to economic and 
jobs growth;

 Funding to support the continuation of work being done by 
the Skills service with local schools and businesses would 
allow the Authority to support local school leavers and 
businesses in promoting career opportunities within the 
local economy; and

 The addition of an Economic Development Officer post to 
the existing team would strengthen the Grants4growth 
project and the Economic Development/Inward Investment 
service.)            

8. APPOINTMENT OF PANELS AND WORKING PARTIES 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager 
Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer) which requested that 
consideration be given to the appointment of Panels and Working 
Parties for the period 2019 - 2023.

Cabinet was advised of nominations received for both the ICT 
Councillor Working Group and the Pre-application Consultation 
Group, as detailed below.  There was one remaining vacancy to 
be filled by the Conservative Group on the ICT Councillor Working 
Group, and this would be agreed shortly. 

DECISION:

a) That the ICT Councillor Working Group be re-established for 
2019-2023 without amendment to its terms of reference; and 
substitutions be permitted (including for the Portfolio Holder 
with responsibility for ICT) where members form part of a 
political group subject to (i) substitutions applying for individual 
meetings only and (ii) the group leader or nominated 
representative submitting details to the Executive Manager for 
Governance by noon on the day of the meeting, or at least 3 
hours before the meeting, whichever is the earlier; 

b) That the Portfolio Holder Decision by the Leader of the Council 
to re-establish the Pre-application Consultation Group for the 
period 2019-2023 without amendment to its terms of reference 

Page 8



- 5 -

CABINET - 18 June 2019

be noted; 

c) That membership of both of the above be agreed, following 
nominations provided by Group leaders, as follows:

ICT Councillor Working Group

 Councillors Astill, Beal, Carter, Cronin, Seymour and 
Walsh.  

 One vacant seat to be filled by the Conservative Group.

Pre-Application Consultation Group

 Councillors Alcock, Avery, Bingham, Brewis, Casson, 
Coupland, Drury, Gambba-Jones, Lawton, Seymour, 
Sneath and Wilkinson.

d) That the Priory Road Community Hub Project Sub-Committee 
is not re-established, but that a non decision making group be 
established in due course, with a wider remit to oversee 
corporate assets generally, the terms of reference of which to 
be approved by the Leader.

(Other options considered:
 Not to approve the recommendations; or
 To approve the recommendations with amendments.

Reasons for decision:
 To enable delivery of the advisory/consultative support 

detailed in paragraph 2.3 of the report.)

9. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE LEADER DECIDES ARE 
URGENT. 

There were no urgent items.

10. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

DECISION:

That, under section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 3 of part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act.

11. FLEET MAINTENANCE 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 

Page 9



- 6 -

CABINET - 18 June 2019

Place, and the Executive Director Place which requested that 
consideration be given to the options for the fleet maintenance of 
council owned vehicles, including environmental services. 

DECISION:

That the recommendations, as detailed in the report be agreed.

(The meeting ended at 10:35 am.)

(End of minutes)

These minutes are published on Friday, 21 June 2019.  In accordance with the 
Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed above will, unless otherwise stated, 
come into force and may then be implemented on Monday, 1 July 2019 (i.e. after the 
expiry of 5 working days from the date of publication of these minutes), unless during 
that period a notice which is signed by either a Ward Representative (in relation to a 
matter in their ward) or two members of the Performance Monitoring Panel or any 
three members, and complies with the requirements of the Council’s Constitution is 
served on the Executive Manager Governance requesting that the decision be called-
in and the Executive Manager Governance approves the request for call-in.  Where a 
decision is called-in it will firstly be considered by the Performance Monitoring Panel 
on a date to be fixed.

Any FINAL DECISIONS and any URGENT DECISIONS take effect immediately.

Any RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL detailed above will be submitted for 
consideration to the meeting of the full Council on Wednesday, 31 July 2019.

Page 10



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Place and/or Executive Director - Place

To: Cabinet 23rd July 2019

(Author: Charlotte Paine Environmental Services Manager)

Subject Recycling Review

Purpose: To review the recycling materials collection in a trial area of South Holland

Recommendation(s): 

1) That agreement be given to commence a one year trial of a two stream collection of 
recycling in the areas listed.

2) That agreement be given to issue section 46 notice of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 
to those in the trial area to define what can be placed in the waste receptacles. 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 South Holland District Council currently collect recycling in a green sack every week. The 
recycling is collected co-mingled with paper, card, plastic, metals and glass in the same 
green sack. For residents, this is a simple and effective collection method, their waste is 
collected each week and they don’t have to sort any of their items.

1.2 Co-mingled collections are considered to provide a poor quality of material. In particular 
paper and card are often contaminated by being compacted with glass and with containers 
that still have food waste in them (tins and yogurt pots for example). The consequence of 
this is that the paper and card are no longer suitable for recycling. Paper and card that 
remains of a good quality have a value and can therefore generate a saving for our tax 
payers.

1.3 As part of the WRAP (leaders in helping organisations achieve greater resource efficiency) 
project undertaken on behalf of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP), it has been 
suggested that a two-stream recycling collection would be the most effective and efficient 
way to address these issues and ensure the materials that are collected remain of a good 
quality and can therefore be recycled.

1.4 In response to the WRAP project, and in order to improve the recycling in Lincolnshire, the 
LWP has created a sub group to consider how a two stream collection could work in 
Lincolnshire and the possible benefits that can be achieved from changing recycling away 
from co-mingled.

1.5 Using benchmarking information, including the WRAP findings, the two stream method 
proposed means removing paper and card from the rest of the recycling materials to 
ensure the contamination opportunities are reduced and ensure good quality paper and 
card is available for recycling.

Page 11

Agenda Item 7.



1.6 It is proposed that a trial of this two stream approach, across a selection of districts in 
Lincolnshire, would help to establish evidence and key learnings about whether this change 
in recycling collections will increase the quality of the paper and card collected and prove 
whether this approach should be rolled out across the County to improve recycling and 
reduce costs to the Lincolnshire tax payers. The trial is proposed to last for 1 year and is 
anticipated to start from September 2019 and SHDC are proposed to be one of the districts 
in the trial.

1.7 As part of the trial, SHDC collections would continue in a receptacle as close to our current 
method as possible, a blue plastic sack has been suggested. This allows for recycling to 
continue to be collected each week however, differing material will be collected alternate 
weeks (see table below). This would be a change for residents who would have to keep 
some material for a week due to the alternate collections of paper one week and the rest of 
the recycling the following week. As this material is required to be clean, there should be no 
issues with vermin or smell. There may be issues in some areas where storage of material 
is difficult, this will be considered as part of the initial project set up, through the 
communications and engagement strategy and throughout the trial.

Week Residual – 
Black Sack

Recycling – Green Sack
(Plastic, Glass, Metal)

Paper & Card – 
Blue Sack

1 x x
2 x x
3 x x
4 x x

1.8 Collection of the paper and card in plastic sacks does provide some benefits and 
consequences. The plastic bags help to keep the material dry, which is important for the 
quality and recyclability of the paper and card. However, the proposed paper mill are 
unable to receive the material in the plastic sacks. It has been agreed that this receptacle 
can be trialled, but that the paper will need to be split from the bags prior to delivery to the 
mill. Therefore, during the trial the sacks will be tipped and split by hand. The trial will be an 
opportunity to consider this methodology and the viability of scaling this up to the whole 
district. Benchmarking shows that there are a number of councils that offer separate paper 
collections in sacks (often re-usable sacks), including Chelmsford, Blackpool, Cornwall and 
North Devon.

1.9 The proposed number of residents in the SHDC trial will be around 4,500. This is across 2 
Monday routes, these include Donington and Pinchbeck. The routes have been chosen to 
provide a selection of rural and town collections in order to assess impacts across a range 
of residents. The postcode data will be utilised to find the most appropriate methods of 
contact for residents to increase engagement in the trial. A list of the postcodes for the 
areas that will be part of the trial are detailed in Appendix A.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Commence a trial of two stream recycling collections across a small area in South Holland, 
working with other Lincolnshire Districts and the LWP, to establish the benefits and 
learnings of such a collection method including how to best consider a roll out for all of 
SHDC.

Page 12



2.2 Do nothing, do not be part of the trial and do not test our methodology for collections prior 
to possible full County roll out.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 It is recommended that SHDC take the opportunity to be a part of the trial for two stream 
collections of recycling material. The trial enables SHDC to work closely with our partners 
in the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership to consider and establish an evidenced way forward 
for the recycling material in Lincolnshire. 

3.2 By being part of the trial throughout its inception and delivery, and understanding the 
learnings of the trial, SHDC can help to shape it and ensure that the most appropriate 
methods are proposed going forward for our residents, based on the evidence gathered 
throughout the trial and through best practice.

3.3 The trial is a partnership of the Waste Collection (districts) and Waste Disposal (county) 
Authorities. It is an opportunity to ensure that we are all working together to establish the 
most practical, environmentally sustainable and economical way of delivering a two stream 
service that suits the needs of our residents. The trial is currently looking to be funded by 
the County Council as the waste disposal authority and therefore, SHDC are recommended 
to be part of the trial to establish how the findings can support our future delivery to 
residents.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 There are a number of reasons behind the proposal of this trial, as detailed earlier, it is 
established that co-mingled collections do not provide good quality paper and card for 
recycling. Therefore there is an environmental benefit from being part of the trial at a time 
where public opinion is pushing for everyone to do more to help the environment. 

4.2 There are financial benefits to being part of the trial, for SHDC the trial will be funded by 
LCC as the financial benefits of clean, good quality paper and card are seen by the 
disposal authority. However, ultimately the financial benefits are to the Lincolnshire tax 
payer and therefore our residents. 

4.3 The trial is looking to establish a clear communication, education and enforcement strategy 
for two stream collections, which is being created as part of a bigger picture to tackle the 
high levels of contamination seen in the recycling collections throughout Lincolnshire. Being 
part of the trial allows SHDC to help shape this and to be one of the districts leading the 
way on tackling the problem of contamination which is resulting in poor recycling materials 
being presented for processing at the Materials Recycling Facilities (MRF).

4.4 As part of the trial, there will be a rigorous sampling routine established which will create a 
baseline for current materials in all streams (paper and card, recycling and residual). This 
will enable the trial to be fully scrutinised to evidence whether it has been a success. It is 
anticipated that there will be positive impacts as a by-product of this trial. For example, it is 
hoped that some of the paper and card material that is currently placed in the residual 
(back sack) will now be placed in the blue sack to be recycled and that, as previously 
mentioned, recycling contamination is reduced to improve the quality of all recycling 

Page 13



material.

4.5 The anticipated outcomes of the trial include:

 Separate, clean fibre collected (paper and card) which has a better value
 Improvement in the quality of the remaining recycling materials
 Reduction in contamination in all waste streams 
 Reduction in the amount of residual and non-target materials collected in recycling
 Identify the most appropriate methods of collection
 Validate the WRAP analysis
 Demonstrate new ways of working for new recycling contract (March 2020)

4.6 The above outcomes will be measured in a number of ways through engagement with 
residents but also in sampling of material before, during and after the trial to identify what 
impacts have been seen in volumes of material collected (as detailed above).

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 
implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 Paper and card that is separated at source (by the resident) is evidenced to be of a better 
quality than co-mingled, in terms of recycling potential. Therefore the trial is looking to 
collect better quality material and also looking to collect higher volumes of material. This 
can have a positive environmental impact where paper and card can be more effectively 
recycled.

5.1.2 The SHDC trial implements two stream collection without the need for an additional 
collection or vehicle, therefore we are not increasing the carbon footprint through collection 
vehicles.

5.2 Constitutional & Legal

5.2.1 There will be a requirement to issue a notice under section 46 of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 to those residents in the trial area. This notice will require ‘the occupier 
to place waste for collection in receptacles of a kind and nature specified’. By issuing this, it 
is made clear to residents which colour sack to use for which waste and recycling material. 

5.3 Corporate Priorities

5.3.1 This recommended option helps us to deliver our corporate plan objective to ‘Work together 
with partners, businesses and local communities to re-establish the Pride in South Holland 
programme to improve the quality of public spaces to be cleaner, greener and safer’ and 

Page 14



‘Continue to ensure that our regulatory and statutory services remain fully compliant with all 
current and emerging legislation’ as we look to ensure a better quality of recycling material 
in line with the national government Waste and Resources Strategy.

5.4 Financial

5.4.1 The costs of the trial are currently being established, for SHDC the cost of the trial includes 
£4,000 for blue sacks, £2,500 for delivery of the sacks and £400 per fortnight to split the 
sacks. The project group are collating the prices for the communications and education 
support. It is proposed that the trial is funded by the County Council and will see no impact 
to SHDC other than officer time on the project team.

5.5 Reputation

5.5.1 It is expected that there would be a positive reputational impact for SHDC as we look to 
address quality and recyclability of materials and therefore support the environmental 
agenda.

5.6 Risk Management

5.6.1 The main risk that has been identified relates to the possible poor uptake and engagement 
and from residents in the trial area. This is mitigated with a clear understanding that a 
communications and engagement strategy will run alongside the project and will 
commence prior to the proposed start date of September and throughout the trial.  

5.7 Staffing

5.7.1 There may be additional staffing requirements, likely to be agency filled, especially in 
regards to the delivery and splitting of sacks, however these are scoped in the plan and 
part of the proposed costings to be funded by LCC.

5.8 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

5.8.1 A detailed and clear communication strategy will be created for the trial. This is being led by 
LCC and the project group who are working with other authorities who have implemented 
similar collection trials to establish the best communication messages based on experience 
and lessons learnt elsewhere. Communications are planned to commence in August and 
continue throughout the trial period. Alongside communication there will be education 
support and this is being worked on as part of the project group.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 There are a limited number of areas directly affected by the trial, the full list of these areas 
is identified in appendix A.

7.0 ACRONYMS

7.1 SHDC – South Holland District Council

7.2 WRAP - Waste and Resources Action Programme

Page 15



7.3 LWP – Lincolnshire Waste Partnership

7.4 LCC – Lincolnshire County Council

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Charlotte Paine Environmental Services Manager
Telephone Number
Email: cpaine@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Y 

Exempt Decision: N 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Postcodes in Trial Area

Page 16



Appendix A

Paper Trial Routes 

Page 17



Route
Post 
Code Route

Post 
Code Route

Post 
Code Route

Post 
Code Route

Post 
Code

1
PE11 
2AL 1

PE11 
4TS 1

PE12 
6EP 1

PE11 
4XL 2

PE11 
1GH

1
PE11 
2HG 1

PE11 
4TT 1

PE12 
6ER 1

PE11 
4XN 2

PE11 
1GJ

1
PE11 
2HH 1

PE11 
4TU 1

PE12 
6ES 1

PE11 
4XP 2

PE11 
1GL

1
PE11 
2HN 1

PE11 
4TW 1

PE12 
6EU 1

PE11 
4XQ 2

PE11 
1GN

1
PE11 
2HP 1

PE11 
4TX 1

PE12 
6EX 1

PE11 
4XR 2

PE11 
1GP

1
PE11 
2HQ 1

PE11 
4TY 1

PE12 
6HA 1

PE11 
4XT 2

PE11 
1GQ

1
PE11 
2HR 1

PE11 
4TZ 1

PE11 
4SE 1

PE11 
4XU 2

PE11 
1GR

1
PE11 
2HS 1

PE11 
4UA 1

PE11 
4SG 1

PE11 
4XW 2

PE11 
1GW

1
PE11 
2HT 1

PE11 
4UB 1

PE11 
4SH 1

PE11 
4XX 2

PE11 
1GZ

1
PE11 
2HU 1

PE11 
4UD 1 PE11 4SJ 1

PE11 
4XY 2

PE11 
1PZ

1
PE11 
2HX 1

PE11 
4UE 1 PE11 4SL 1

PE11 
4XZ 2

PE11 
1QB

1
PE11 
2HY 1

PE11 
4UF 1

PE11 
4SN 1

PE11 
4YA 2

PE11 
1QD

1
PE11 
2NJ 1

PE11 
4UG 1

PE11 
4SP 1

PE11 
4YB 2

PE11 
1QE

1
PE11 
2NX 1

PE11 
4UJ 1

PE11 
4SQ 1

PE11 
4YD 2

PE11 
1QF

1
PE11 
3RF 1

PE11 
4UP 1

PE11 
4SR 1

PE11 
4YE 2

PE11 
3PR

1
PE11 
4EJ 1

PE11 
4UQ 1

PE11 
4ST 1

PE11 
4YF 2

PE11 
3PS

1
PE11 
4LQ 1

PE11 
4US 1

PE11 
4SZ 1

PE11 
4YG 2

PE11 
3PW

1
PE11 
4PJ 1

PE11 
4UW 1

PE11 
4TA 1

PE11 
4YH 2

PE11 
3QP

1
PE11 
4PT 1

PE11 
4UY 1

PE11 
4TB 1

PE11 
4YJ 2

PE11 
3RA

1
PE11 
4RE 1

PE11 
4XA 1

PE11 
4TD 1

PE12 
6AT 2

PE11 
3RB

1
PE11 
4RF 1

PE11 
4XB 1

PE11 
4TF 2

PE11 
1BP 2

PE11 
3RD

1
PE11 
4RG 1

PE11 
4XE 1

PE11 
4TG 2

PE11 
1BT 2

PE11 
3RE

1
PE11 
4RH 1

PE11 
4XF 1

PE11 
4TH 2

PE11 
1DA 2

PE11 
3RG

1
PE11 
4SA 1

PE11 
4XG 1

PE11 
4TL 2

PE11 
1EB 2

PE11 
3RH

1
PE11 
4SB 1

PE11 
4XH 1

PE11 
4TP 2

PE11 
1GF 2

PE11 
3RJ

1
PE11 
4SD 1

PE11 
4XJ 1

PE11 
4TQ 2

PE11 
1GG 2

PE11 
3RL

Page 18



Route
Post 
Code Route

Post 
Code Route

Post 
Code Route

Post 
Code Route

Post 
Code

2
PE11 
3RN 2

PE11 
3XL 2

PE11 
1QJ 2

PE11 
3TR 2

PE11 
3YP

2
PE11 
3RP 2

PE11 
3XN 2

PE11 
1QL 2

PE11 
3TS 2

PE11 
3YT

2
PE11 
3RQ 2

PE11 
3XP 2

PE11 
1QN 2

PE11 
3TT 2

PE11 
3YW

2
PE11 
3RR 2

PE11 
3XQ 2

PE11 
1QP 2

PE11 
3TU 2

PE11 
3YZ

2
PE11 
3RS 2

PE11 
3XR 2

PE11 
1QS 2

PE11 
3TW 2

PE11 
3ZD

2
PE11 
3RT 2

PE11 
3XS 2

PE11 
1QW 2

PE11 
3TX 2

PE11 
3ZE

2
PE11 
3RW 2

PE11 
3XT 2

PE11 
1UF 2

PE11 
3UA 2

PE11 
3ZN

2
PE11 
3RX 2

PE11 
3XU 2

PE11 
1XD 2

PE11 
3UB 2

PE11 
4AF

2
PE11 
3RY 2

PE11 
3XW 2

PE11 
1XN 2

PE11 
3UD 2

PE11 
4AG

2
PE11 
3RZ 2

PE11 
3XX 2 PE11 3JP 2

PE11 
3UE 2

PE11 
4AH

2
PE11 
3SG 2

PE11 
3XY 2 PE11 3JR 2

PE11 
3UF 2

PE11 
4AJ

2
PE11 
3SJ 2

PE11 
3XZ 2 PE11 3JS 2

PE11 
3UG 2

PE11 
4AL

2
PE11 
3TN 2

PE11 
3YA 2

PE11 
3LY 2

PE11 
3UP 2

PE11 
4AN

2
PE11 
3TP 2

PE11 
3YB 2 PE11 3LZ 2

PE11 
3UQ 2

PE11 
4AW

2
PE11 
3XD 2

PE11 
3YD 2

PE11 
3NS 2

PE11 
3US 2

PE11 
4BS

2
PE11 
3XE 2

PE11 
3YE 2

PE11 
3PB 2

PE11 
3UT

2
PE11 
3XF 2

PE11 
3YF 2

PE11 
3PE 2

PE11 
3UU

2
PE11 
3XG 2

PE11 
3YG 2 PE11 3PJ 2

PE11 
3UX

2
PE11 
3XH 2

PE11 
3YH 2

PE11 
3PP 2

PE11 
3XA

2
PE11 
3XJ 2

PE11 
3YJ 2

PE11 
3PQ 2

PE11 
3XB

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Finance 

To: Cabinet Tuesday, 23 July 2019

Author: Sharon Hammond Head of Revenues & Benefits

Subject Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2020/21 - Consultation

Purpose: To consider options for the local Council Tax Support scheme for 2020/21.  

Recommendation(s): 

1. That Cabinet approves consultation on the following options: -

a) Uprating and harmonisation of the scheme as appropriate to the DWP welfare 
reforms in Housing Benefit and the prescribed scheme for pensioners for 2020/21 
and future years, and

b) Introduce a link to the award of Universal Credit, removing the need for customers to 
make a separate application for Council Tax Support, and

c) Introduce a tolerance rule for Universal Credit customer change in earnings, 
suggested £15 per week with the final amount determined through consultation and 
analysis. 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Each year the Council is required to consider whether to review its local Council Tax 
Support (CTS) scheme.   This report advises Cabinet about the conclusion of the 2019 
annual review and the resultant proposals for consultation in respect of changes to the 
2020/21 scheme.

1.2 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 sets out the process by which Councils must 
approve a local Council Tax Support scheme.  Regulations include protection for 
pensioners but allow Councils to make changes in the way that support is calculated for 
working age claimants.

1.3 Where Councils seek to amend their scheme it is necessary to consult major preceptors 
and stakeholders to inform a final scheme design.

1.4 The current South Holland scheme provides a maximum amount of 70% support for 
working age claimants.  It protects War Pensioners, and from 2019/20 a new class was 
introduced for Care Leavers aged 18-21. 

1.5 A number of changes were introduced in financial year 2017/18, and these are summarised 
below for information: -

 Second Adult Rebate removed from 2019/20. (This affected households where the 
claimant’s own income is too high to receive CTS, but there were other adult(s) living in 
the household whose combined income is low).

Page 21

Agenda Item 8.



 A minimum level of CTS at £5 per week was introduced.  (Where the amount of CTS 
each week would be less than £5, no CTS is now awarded).  

 An increase in non-dependent deductions by 10% was implemented.  (A non-
dependent is an adult living with a claimant but who is not dependent upon them, for 
example an adult son or daughter.  Non-dependents are now expected to contribute 
more towards the household’s Council Tax bill).

 Restricted CTS to Band D.  (This means claimants living in dwellings that are banded 
E, F, G or H have their entitlement to CTS calculated at the level of Council Tax Band 
D).

 Reduced the Capital Limit to £8,000.  (This means claimants with more than £8,000 in 
capital are no longer entitled to any CTS).

 Reduced the lower capital threshold to £3,000.  (This lowered the amount that is 
disregarded in the calculation of CTS).

 Limited backdating to 1 month.  (This change was in line with the changes made by 
DWP for Housing Benefit).   

 Removed family premium for new claims.  (This change was in line with changes made 
by DWP for Housing Benefit).   

2.0 FUNDING THE COUNCIL TAX SCHEME

2.1 In 2013/14, the amount of Government grant available to meet the cost of any support was 
reduced by approximately 10% nationally, although at a local level this equated to an 
11.4% cut.  From 2014/15 the Government grant has been subsumed within the Revenues 
Support Grant (RSG), and is not separately identifiable. 

2.2 In June 2019 the amount of CTS discount awarded for 2019/20 was £4,104,125. Caseload 
and expenditure will continue to fluctuate through the remainder of the financial year.  

The table below shows the profile of Council Tax Support caseload and expenditure in June 
2019.  The cost to South Holland being approximately £418,621 (10.2%).

Total Caseload Percentage Amount of CTS

All Groups 5,093 £4,135,224

Elderly 2,939 57.7% £2,665,339

Working Age 2,154 42.3% £1,469,885

2.3 2019/20 is the seventh year of the local Council Tax Support scheme.  The following table 
compares in-year collection rates since introduction of the changes in 2013/14.  (2012/13 
in-year collection performance is also shown for information).  

Date Collectable Debit In-Year Collection Rate

2012/13 £35.4m 97.90%
2013/14 £36.7m 97.94%
2014/15 £37.8m 97.86%
2015/16 £39.1m 98.05%
2016/17 £41.1m 98.19%
2017/18 £43.3m 98.06%
2018/19 £46.2m 97.83%

Page 22



In-year collection rate as a percentage in 2018/19 was marginally lower than previous year, 
however over £2.7million more Council Tax was collected in 2018/19. Factors that affect in-
year collection are the level of CTS awarded following changes introduced in the 2017/18 
scheme, and also the introduction of Universal Credit (UC) full service in 2018. 

2.4 Whilst in-year collection is relatively consistent there remains £177,330 outstanding in 
summonsed arrears in respect of the six previous year’s council tax support cases, 
representing 0.4% of the total arrears for 2013/14 to 2018/19.  Recovery and collection 
continues beyond the end of the year in question, however the prospect of recovery reduces. 
Provision for bad debt has been made. 

2.5 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 and subsequent regulations granted billing 
authorities greater discretion over discounts and exemptions for certain categories of empty 
dwelling from 1st April 2013. 

2..6 Changes, decided by Council in January 2013, were introduced from 1st April 2013 to 
increase the council tax base and potential revenue to help fill the funding gap arising from 
the cut to grant in respect of CTS.  Following a resolution by Council, from 1 April 2019, the 
premium Council Tax on properties which are empty and unoccupied for more than 2 years 
increased from 50% to 100%, increasing Council Tax payable to 200%.

3.0 2020/21 SCHEME REVIEW, OPTIONS TO CONSIDER

3.1 Annual uprating for 2020/21 and future years

3.1.1 Each year, as part of its decision making process for the forthcoming year, the Council has 
resolved to uprate its scheme in line with Department for Work and Pension (DWP) annual 
update of allowances and premiums for Housing Benefit. 

3.1.2 It is proposed that as part of this review that the decision for annual uprating and 
harmonisation of the scheme as appropriate to the DWP welfare reforms in Housing Benefit 
and the prescribed CTS scheme for pensioners is made for 2020/21 and to also apply in 
subsequent financial years.

3.2 Link CTS to the award of UC

3.2.1 Since the implementation of the full Universal Credit (UC) service in 2018, the majority of 
new claims now go through UC of which details are received by the council through the 
Universal Credit Data Sharing hub (UCDS).

3.2.2 The introduction of a link to the award of UC for CTS would remove the current requirement 
for the customer to make a separate application for CTS.  Once a UCDS new claim notice is 
received from the DWP indicating the customer wishes to apply for CTS, this will trigger a 
CTS calculation based on a standard calculation, to then be revised at the point of first UC 
payment, 5-6 weeks later.  

3.3 Introduce a tolerance rule for the revision of earnings

3.3.1 UC is paid monthly, calculated on the customer’s circumstances including earnings.  Given 
that customers’ circumstances, especially earnings, fluctuate, this leads to monthly revised 
UC awards sent to the Council by the DWP.  Under existing Council Tax Support scheme 

Page 23



rules, the Council is required to revise awards when a customer’s Universal Credit changes.  
In turn this means customers receive a revised Council Tax bill for the balance due for the 
year, and have to amend their payment arrangements.  This can increase customer contact 
regarding these notifications because customers are unsure what they have to pay due to 
the requirement to re-profile their Council Tax payments.  This uncertainty also impacts on 
Council Tax collection as well as increased administration costs and postage associated with 
producing additional notification letters.

3.3.2 The introduction of a tolerance rule into the scheme would have the effect of ‘freezing’ a 
customer’s assessment when a revised UCDS notification would otherwise have triggered a 
reassessment of CTS.  UCDS changes notified above the tolerance level would be 
processed as usual, whereas changes within the tolerance level would not be updated, and 
therefore no correspondence would be issued to the customer and the would be no 
amendment to Council Tax repayments.

3.3.3 A relatively small tolerance level would ensure smoothing of customers fluctuating UC 
awards and not disadvantage those customers receiving greater or occasional beneficial 
changes.  Where a customer’s circumstances noticeably change, for example employment 
ceases, the tolerance rule would not apply given the change would be greater than the 
tolerance level and this would trigger an immediate adjustment to CTS to provide extra 
benefit.

3.3.4 It is also recommended that the changes provide for discretion to reassess entitlement where 
a reduction in earnings occurs and it is clear the level of earnings will likely continue at a 
lower rate.

3.3.3 A weekly tolerance level of £15, for example, would equate to less than two hours 
employment at national minimum hourly rates.  During the consultation period, an analysis of 
UCDS award notifications will be undertaken to help inform final decision making in terms of 
the level at which tolerance should be set.

4.0 OPTIONS

4.1 Option 1 – all options as set out in section 3 above.  Recommended.

4.2 Option 2 – Some, but not all, of the options in section 3 above.

4.3 Option 3 – do nothing.  Retain the same scheme, unchanged, for 2020/21.
The current scheme would continue into 2020/21 however the benefits of the changes 
outlined in Section 3 of this report would not be achieved.

5.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

5.1 The recommendation will continue to align the CTS scheme and uprating for working age 
customers with DWP provisions for Housing Benefit and the CTS scheme for pensioners.  
This has been consistent each year since the introduction of local Council Tax Support 
schemes, and if determined for 2020/21 and future years will remove the need for this 
decision to be taken each year, however it would not prevent a different decision in future 
years if desired.  

Page 24



5.2 The recommendation to link CTS with the award for UC will make it simpler and more 
timely for customers to access CTS, preventing delay and potential loss in support (under 
scheme rules, if an application is made late it can only be backdated for 1 month).  

5.3 The recommendation to introduce a tolerance for earnings changes will reduce the number 
of notifications customers receive to amend their Council Tax payments, and provide 
stability for customer repayments whilst at the same time reducing customer contact.  

6.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

6.1 Simplified and timely access to Council Tax Support for Universal Credit claimants.  
Reduced customer notifications and contacts and more stable repayment arrangements for 
customers.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 
implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

7.1 Constitutional & Legal
7.1.1 There are no legal implications as this report relates to consultation.

7.2 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights
7.2.1 The existing Council Tax Support scheme continues to be delivered on the basis of the 

DWP’s previous Council Tax Benefit scheme regarding protection for vulnerable groups, 
including children and the disabled.  Therefore an equality impact assessment is not 
considered necessary at this time.

7.3 Financial
7.3.1 The proposals in this report for consultation would not significantly affect the cost of the 

current scheme.  However, CTS is demand led, and if successful applications were to 
increase then expenditure would increase.

7.4 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales
7.4.1 Consultation will be carried out if Cabinet agree the recommendations.  We will work with 

the Communications team to organise and run the consultation exercise.

8.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

8.1 All

9.0 ACRONYMS

9.1 CTS – Council Tax Support
9.2 RSG – Revenue Support Grant
9.3 UC – Universal Credit

Page 25



9.4 DWP – Department for Work and Pensions
9.5 UCDS – Universal Credit Data Sharing

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Sharon Hammond Head of Revenues & Benefits
Telephone Number
Email: Sharon.Hammond@pspsl.co.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: 
None

Page 26



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Tracey Carter – Portfolio Holder for Governance and 
Customer

To: Cabinet 23rd July 2019

Author: Ross Bangs – Corporate Innovation, Change and Performance 
Manager

Subject: Performance Overview Report – Quarter 4 2018/19

Purpose: To provide an update on how the Council is performing for the 
period 1st January 2019 to 31 March 2019

Recommendation(s): 

1)  To note the content of the report

1.0 BACKGROUND

The Quarter 4 2018-19 Performance Report detailed in Appendix A aims to provide 
Members, businesses and residents with an overview of how the Council is 
performing against a number of key strategic indicators. These indicators include the 
delivery of frontline services, financial performance and progress made towards 
achieving the overarching aims an objectives of the Council as set out in the 
Corporate Plan.   

In addition the covering report will highlight areas of improved and high performance 
and also where performance is challenging. Where this is the case the report will 
summarise what officers are doing to address this.  

1.1 Key Performance Indicators

Page 27

Agenda Item 9.



1.2 Performance is reported using the RAG system with green demonstrating where an 
indicator is on or above target, amber where the indicator is below target but showing 
an upward trend and red where an indicator is below target. 

Of the 18 measurable indicators the below table shows an overall improvement in 
performance across the Council when compared with Quarter 3 18/19. 

Indicator Quarter 4 18/19 Quarter 3 18/19
2 (11%) 5 (28%)

0 1 (5%)
16 (89%) 12 67%)

1.3       Areas of Success

There has been a significant improvement in the indicator which measures staff 
turnover with a total of just four officers leaving the Council within Q4 equating to 1.7% 
of the total establishment. By comparison the same period 12 months ago recorded 
14 leavers equating to 6.36%. In addition the number of working days lost through 
sickness has also decreased again significantly with 319 days lost in Q4 a reduction 
from 678 when compared with the same period 12 months ago. This equates to just 
under one working day lost per officer within the three month period against a national 
average across local authorities of 2.5. Both the working days lost through sickness 
and staff turnover measures suggests both a healthy workforce but also that South 
Holland is a place where colleagues feel valued and supported, this can be attributed 
to the recently adopted workforce strategy and on-going health and wellbeing work 
carried out by our HR team. 

Customer feedback continues to improve with 54 (92%) of the 59 Freedom of 
Information Requests being responded to within 20 working days within Quarter 4 
against 74% for the same period 12 months ago. In addition it is positive to note the 
reduction in the number of requests being made to the Council, 111 in quarter 4 18/19 
down to 59 in the most recent quarter equating to a reduction of 47%. This can be 
attributed to the increased information which is published online in addition to the 
recently digitalised reporting system. The number of complaints responded to within 
15 working days has also increased with 87% of all complaints being responded to 
within this time against a target of 80% and an increase from 71% for the same period 
12 months ago. Again, the number of complaints received by the Council has also 
reduced from 63 in quarter 4 18/19 to just 31 in the most recent quarter. 

Housing re-let performance continues to improve with an average re-let time of 18 
days per property being recorded for quarter 4 based on 53 multi-tenure properties. 
This equates to a total void period across all housing tenures of 930 days a significant 
reduction when compared with the same period 12 months ago where the total void 
period was recorded as 2,155 days, an average of 37 days per property. This 
improvement in performance can be attributed to the Housing review which was 
undertaken last year in addition to a number of process changes which have been 
implemented within the team. The CIP team are currently working closely with 
Housing to ensure that the service continues to perform along with conducting a 
benchmarking exercise to understand how the service is performing against other like 
authorities as well as other private sector organisations.  

Members will also note a significant improvement in the indicator which measures the 
number of empty properties brought back into use as a result of direct officer 

Page 28



intervention. Within quarter 4, 27 properties were brought back into use an increase 
from 6 when compared with the same period 12 months ago. This increase can be 
attributed to the efforts of the Private Sector Housing Team who through the use of a 
range of powers and approaches have successfully ensured that these residential 
properties have been brought back into use. 

1.4 Areas for Improvement

The year-end gross income generated by EHT&C was £85,500 against a target of 
£105,000. Whilst this is shown as underperforming it should be noted that costs 
associated with the running of EHT&C are relative to income and were therefore also 
down on what was forecasted. In addition it should be further noted that EHT&C albeit 
still in its infancy continues to grow and develop a sound reputation within the sector 
and this growth is forecasted to continue into the new financial year. The indicator will 
be developed for the new financial year to show net income therefore providing a 
more meaningful indicator of the financial benefits of EHT&C to the Council. 

There was a small spike in the number of missed waste collections reported to the 
Council. This is typical of this period due to the hangover of the Christmas period into 
January and number of bank holidays resulting in additional collection. With this said 
contextually, the total number of missed collections was 561 from over a million 
planned collections equating to 55 missed collections in every 100,000 planned 
collections. The CIP team are working with the service to identify a more meaningful 
measure such has how quickly the service reacts to the report of a missed collection. 
These new proposals will come forward as part of the Quarter 1 19/20 performance 
report. 

 

2 Recommendation

That the contents of the report be noted

3 EXPECTED BENEFITS

3.1 The Council’s performance is properly scrutinised.

4 IMPLICATIONS

4.1 Constitution & Legal

 The report is made within the terms of reference of the Performance Monitoring Panel.

4.2 Corporate Priorities

The report presents progress monitoring of performance of the corporate priorities.

4.3 Financial

The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey some 
information relating to financial matters.

Page 29



4.4 Reputation

Performance issues can cause some reputational consequence.  It is the purpose 
of this report to highlight performance issues at an early stage.

4.5 Risk Management

Performance issues may be subject to risk management measures to protect 
Council interests.

4.6 Staffing

The report contains information relating to staffing issues.

5.0         WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

5.1         No Wards or Communities are affected 

6.0         ACRONYMS 

PMP – Performance Monitoring Panel
LA – Local Authority

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Ross Bangs  – Corporate Innovation, Change and 

Performance Manager
Telephone Number: 07870835233
Email: ross.bangs@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting
Name and Post: Ross Bangs – Corporate Innovation, Change and 

Performance Manager 

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Quarter 4 Performance Report

Page 30

file:///C:/Users/CharlottePaine/Democratic%20Services/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
mailto:greg.pearson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


1

2018/19 Q4 SHDC PMP Report

         

         

Indicator Gross income generated by EHT&C Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2017/18 N/A N/A N/A

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2018/19 N/A N/A £85,500.00

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

The amount of gross 
income generated by the 
Environmental Health, 
Training and consultancy 
commercial trading arm

 

£105,000.00

 

Higher is better as we look to generate 
more income from our environmental 
health training and consultancy department

The end of year figures are slightly under original target showing that 
income did not reach the levels projected, however it is important to 
note expenditure costs were also down. Operating bottom line financial 
figures are in line with projections but inline and better than in year 
forecast which was around £80k

This indicator will be changed for the next reporting cycle to also 
illustrate the bottom line operating financial figures and not just income 
in order to get a full overview of the services financial performance. It is 
also worth highlighting that the service is working with the councils 
internal marketing team to target products and businesses to support 
South Holland businesses going forward as per the business case.

P
age 31



2

     

 

  

         

Indicator Time to process DFG Applications Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2017/18 N/A N/A N/A

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2018/19 N/A N/A 232

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Overall time from 
appointment to 
completion. 

 

 Data Only

 

Lower is better as we look to process 
applications in the shortest time possible

Within the Q4 period January reported a very low figure as there were 
no complicated jobs in that particular month, However overall this 
figure has gone up since the last Quarter but this is mainly due to 
one project which had to be placed on hold due to change in 
circumstance and illness resulting in the need to commission a 
different builder.

       

  

         

P
age 32



3

Indicator % of complaints responded to within agreed timescales Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Complaints in 
Timescale

Complaints Responded 
To

Value

Q4 2017/18 45 63 71.43%

Current Performance

Complaints in 
Timescale

Complaints Responded 
To

Value

Q4 2018/19 27 31 87.1%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

the percentage of the 
complaints that were 
responded to within the 
period, that were 
responded to within the 
agreed timescales (15 day 
stage 1, 20 days stage 2)

 

80%

 

Higher is better as we look to ensure all formal 
complaints receive a response and resolution 
as soon as possible.

Quarter 4 was very positive for complaint response rates, particularly 
the latest month’s figures for March which show the response within 
timescale rate at 100%, March shows the best figures in this quarter 
with 100% of complaints responded to within the 15 day deadline we 
set out in our policy, this shows that we as a council are responsive 
to feedback from residents and they are receiving responses and 
resolutions as quickly as possible.

         

         

P
age 33



4

Indicator % of FOI requests responded to within time limit Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Number responded in 
time

Number due in month Value

Q4 2017/18 89 111 74%

Current Performance

Number responded in 
time

Number due in month Value

Q4 2018/19 54 59 92%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Of the FOI's responded to 
in the month, the 
percentage of ones that 
were responded to within 
the statutory 20 day 
timescale

 

100%

 

Higher is better as we aim to respond to all 
our FOI requests within the statutory times set 
out

In Quarter 4 it is pleasing to note the FOI response rate is at the 
highest it has been, This figure reflects the positive steps taken to 
improve this PI such as the streamlining and re-design of the 
feedback loop, this is also a result of improved communication and 
engagement between the teams and the Statutory information officer 
in how information is retrieved and communicated to requestors.

     

 

   

P
age 34



5

         

Indicator Number of Vexatious Customer Registrations Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2017/18 N/A N/A N/A

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2018/19 N/A N/A 0

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

This Performance measure 
monitors the number of 
customers who have been 
made vexatious in the time 
period.
The vexatious application 
is managed via the 
Corporate Complaints 
team and the Legal team.

 

N/A 

 

 N/A There have been no vexatious customer registrations in the last 
Quarter, potentially vexatious customers continue to be monitored 
and the feedback loop operates to raise potentially vexatious 
customers to the senior management and legal team for a decision.

        

         

P
age 35



6

Indicator % of household waste recycled or composted Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2017/18 N/A N/A 29.86%

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2018/19 N/A N/A 32.26%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

% of household waste 
which has been recycled 
and composted (includes 
garden waste) against all 
the household waste 
collected

 

29.73%

 

A higher % is better as we look to recycle or 
compost more waste

Overall the % of household waste recycled/composted sits above 
target for this quarter and this figure has risen by around 3% since 
last quarter, this is largely down to the composting rate rates rising 
by nearly 10% in the last year, and this is a positive indicator of the 
impact of the garden waste scheme.

      

 

  

         

P
age 36



7

Indicator Missed Waste Collection Rate Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Number of missed 
collections

Per 100,000 collection 
figure

Value

Q4 2017/18 510 10.185 50

Current Performance

Number of missed 
collections

Per 100,000 collection 
figure

Value

Q4 2018/19 561 10.185 55

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of missed 
collections per 100,000 
people

 

33

 

A lower number is better as we look to ensure 
fewer waste collections are missed

Quarter four often sees the highest number missed collections due to 
the knock on effect of the holiday period. January is impacted by 
days where double collections are due, following the non-collection 
days for Christmas Day, Boxing Day and New Year’s Day. This, 
combined with the larger amount of waste presented post-
Christmas, can result in the crews being unable to complete their 
rounds each day and residents reporting their collections as missed.
The process for reporting missed collections is being reviewed 
between Environmental Services and the CIP team to ensure that 
genuine missed collections are being correctly captured and more 
accurate data will enable the service to investigate any instances 
where collections are missed on multiple occasions. During this 
process, some areas have already been identified and are being 
reviewed, including where assisted collections are missed and how to 
ensure our in cab systems support the crews to avoid this occurring. 
The quarter also saw road closures and high levels of annual leave 
which impacted collection rates where agency crews were unaware of 
assisted collection points and this too is being reviewed.

P
age 37



8

         

         

Indicator Commercial Property Occupancy Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Number of units let Total number of units Value

Q4 2017/18 49 50 98%

Current Performance

Number of units let Total number of units Value

Q4 2018/19 49 50 98%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Occupancy levels of the 
council's industrial units  

 

90%

 

A higher number is better as we look to rent 
out as many council owned industrial units as 
possible

Our commercial unit occupancy rate has not changed following on 
from last quarter, however how we market and occupy our 
commercial assets forms as part of the wider asset management 
review, this policy including its commercial asset strategy is set for 
approval in June 2019, therefore more detail on this will be provided 
in the Q1 cycle of this report.

     

 

   

P
age 38



9

         

Indicator Staff turnover % Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Number of leavers in 
period

Total number of staff 
in period

Value

Q4 2017/18 14 220 6.36%

Current Performance

Number of leavers in 
period

Total number of staff 
in period

Value

Q4 2018/19 4 234 1.71%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

% of total leavers against 
total number of staff 
employed in period 
(includes involuntary 
leavers) 
 
Target is 10% which has 
been benchmarked 

 

4.3%

 

Lower is better as we look to retain staff Quarter 4 saw 4 leavers for the whole period which puts South 
Holland significantly below target. This is a positive figure and 
rounds off the year with South Holland Staff turnover rate at 9.17%, 
the CIP team have benchmarked this data and this figures is 
highlighted as positive with the average turnover rates for all UK local 
authorities at around 17.5% for the year, so South Holland is 
significantly below this figure. For reference the minimum turnover 
rate for a Local authority in the East Midlands was Broxtowe council 
at 7%

       

 

 

         

P
age 39



10

Indicator Working Days Lost to Sickness per FTE Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Number of days lost Number of FTE Value

Q4 2017/18 677.91 198.59 3.41

Current Performance

Number of days lost Number of FTE Value

Q4 2018/19 318.9 215 0.97

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Total number of working 
days lost per Full Time 
Equivalent.
This is calculated by taking 
the number of days lost to 
sickness and dividing it by 
the number of full time 
equivalent staff in the 
period

 

2.5

 

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of working time lost to sickness 

Quarter 4 saw the lowest number of days lost to sickness with only 
318 days lost in the period among 215 employees, as a benchmark 
the national average number of days lost to sickness per FTE is 
around 2.5 days per FTE, this currently sits at the average for local 
authorities so sickness is in a really positive position in comparison, 
the lowest number of days lost to sickness per FTE was West Lindsey 
District Council at 0.6 days lost, the maximum was Deventry at 4.4

      

 

  

         

P
age 40



11

Indicator Working Days Lost to Long Term Sickness per FTE Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Number of days lost - 
long term

Number of FTE Value

Q4 2017/18 522.12 198.59 2.63

Current Performance

Number of days lost - 
long term

Number of FTE Value

Q4 2018/19 209 215 0.97

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of working days 
lost per Full Time 
Equivalent for long term 
sickness. 
This is calculated by taking 
the number of days lost to 
long term sickness and 
dividing it by the number 
of full time equivalent staff 
in the period  

 

Data Only 

 

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of working time lost to sickness  

Long term sickness cases continue to drop with 209 days lost, for the 
year this is the lowest long term sickness figure we have reported. As 
a benchmark against other local authorities within the East Midlands 
this puts our long term sickness figures at just over the average of 
4.1 long term sickness days lost per FTE.

      

 

  

         

P
age 41



12

Indicator Working Days Lost to Short Term Sickness per FTE Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Number of days lost - 
short term

Number of FTE Value

Q4 2017/18 164.82 198.59 0.83

Current Performance

Number of days lost - 
short term

Number of FTE Value

Q4 2018/19 109 653.57 0.50

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of working days 
lost per Full Time 
Equivalent for short term 
sickness. 
This is calculated by taking 
the number of days lost to 
long term sickness and 
dividing it by the number 
of full time equivalent staff 
in the period  

 

 Data Only

 

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of working time lost to sickness  

Short term sickness cases did go up slightly in this quarter from 107 
days in Q3 to 109 days in Q4, for the year this is the lowest long 
term sickness figure we have reported. As a benchmark against other 
local authorities within the East Midlands this puts our short term 
sickness figures significantly below the average of 4.5 with South 
Holland reporting 1.7 short term sickness days lost per FTE for the 
year.

      

 

  

         

P
age 42



13

Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (total ave. key to key) All Tenures Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Total # days void Total # properties void Value

Q4 2017/18 2,155 58 37 days

Current Performance

Total # days void Total # properties void Value

Q4 2018/19 930 53 18 days

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Total time in days from 
keys in to keys out - 
including major works for 
all tenures (General Needs 
and Sheltered Housing) 
This is calculated by total 
number of days properties 
remain vacant divided by 
the number or properties 
vacant in the period 

 

28 days

 

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
number of days vacant and therefore not 
receiving rent payments 

This performance metric now sits within the available Homes Team 
who hold ownership of the voids process and ensure that properties 
are re-let in a timely manner. Currently, the Available Homes Team 
coordinate the processing of void properties with timely interventions 
from the Business Support Team, Housing Services Team and the 
Housing Repairs Team. Increased communications are being 
promoted through weekly voids meetings to discuss the progress of 
void repairs, ensuring properties in the highest demand are 
prioritised for completion first. This new structure and way of 
working within the housing team has resulted in the best re-let times 
reported for this year.

       

 

 

         

P
age 43



14

Indicator Cases Prevented from Homelessness Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2017/18 N/A N/A 76

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2018/19 N/A N/A 15

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

P1E Return - Prevention 
and Relieving of 
Homelessness
Number of potentially 
homeless cases diverted 
from homelessness in the 
District

 

 Data Only

 

This is not a targeted measure. The number 
does not reflect % of cases prevented from 
homelessness and therefore will fluctuate 
dependent upon demand to the service. 

It is important to recognise that this indicator is now measuring a 
fundamentally different intervention than that reported in previous 
years. There are now 2 statutory duties placed on Local Authorities to 
deal with homeless. 56 days is given to help prevent homeless this, 
for example: would encompass, helping someone when they have 
had a notice to leave their home with the aim to either find them 
somewhere else to live or see if they can remain in their current 
property via negotiation. Further; there is a further 56 days given to 
help provide relief for someone who is actually homeless. In many 
cases both the 56 day prevent and relief duty will apply, The 
corporate improvement and performance team are working with 
Housing colleagues to develop new potential indicators that will 
effectively measure what “good” looks like in terms of the levels of 
homelessness cases that are resolved. South Holland remains pro-
active in submitting H-HliC data to central government.

       

 

 

P
age 44



15

         

Indicator Empty Properties - Back In Use Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2017/18 N/A N/A 6

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2018/19 N/A N/A 27

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of empty 
properties brought back 
into use through 
intervention by the council

 

25

 

Higher is better as we look to bring as many 
empty homes back into use as possible

These are empty homes brought back into use directly due to the 
intervention of the private sector housing team. It is important to 
note these figures can fluctuate significantly as this info is quarterly 
information from Council Tax who produce the list of empty homes. 
Support to help owners bring their property back into use includes 
help with loans to renovate, advice on how to sell/rent their property 
to someone else but, where necessary, enforcement by way of 
compulsory purchase or enforced sale can be used. The website and 
dedicated e-mail address for owners of empty properties to seek 
Local Authority support and guidance have been refreshed following 
recommendations from PDP.

 

        

P
age 45



16

 

         

Indicator Businesses Assisted to Develop or Grow via Grants4Growth Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2017/18 35

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2018/19 40

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of existing 
businesses assisted to 
develop or grow through 
Economic Development 
support - Grants for 
Growth 

 

6

 

Maximises the amount of support to SME’s in 
Greater Lincolnshire to increase their 
productivity and business resilience.

It is pleasing to note that the Inward investment team have now 
reached the target of 170 businesses assisted since the start of the 
scheme, the assistance provided via grants helps businesses to buy 
capital equipment to aid the growth/productivity of the business, and 
thus reaching the contracted output ahead of target. The team were 
also able to attract more private sector investment than contracted 
also within a reduced timeframe.
The inward investment team are now set to start the next three year 
phase on August 1st 2019.

     

 

   

P
age 46



17

         

Indicator Number of Grants Awarded via Grants4Growth Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2017/18 25

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2018/19 23

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Total number of grants 
that are awarded - grants 
for growth 

 

4.33
 

Maximises the number of business that are 
being assisted to create jobs and increase 
productivity

We have now reached our target of 170 grants awarded totalling 
£197,604 which has been distributed to businesses within the 
district via Grants4growth

     

 

   

         

P
age 47



18

Indicator Local Unemployment Levels Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2017/18 N/A N/A 685

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2018/19 N/A N/A 945

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of people in the 
district claiming JSA (Job 
Seekers Allowance) as 
reported by Spalding DWP

 

 Data Only

 

A falling, lower figure is the ideal for this PI, 
but as a percentage, the unemployment rate in 
South Holland is well below the national and 
regional average.

Unemployment levels are now showing a slight upward trend, much 
of this can be attributed to seasonality within the horticulture 
industry which has just finished its busy period.

Please note due to changes brought on by Universal Credit, this data 
has now been deemed “no longer a reliable economic indicator.” By 
ONS. This is due to a broader span of claimants falling under 
Universal Credit (meaning the claimant count rises).  CIP and Inward 
Investment are currently working to identify an alternative data set.

      

 

 

 

         

P
age 48



19

Indicator % of non-major applications determined within 8 weeks or agreed extension Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Minor Applications in 
Time

Total Minor Apps 
Decided

Value

Q4 2017/18 N/A N/A N/A

Current Performance

Minor Applications in 
Time

Total Minor Apps 
Decided

Value

Q4 2018/19 118 135 87.41%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

This PI measures the % of 
non-major applications 
that have been determined 
within 8 weeks or agreed 
extension, this is in line 
with national 
requirements.

 

70%

 

We look to achieve the highest amount 
possible as we aim to determine all non-major 
planning applications within 8 weeks or agreed 
extension as set out with national 
requirements

Significantly above target.  Reflecting efficient and effective methods 
of working to ensure positive and prompt decision making. 
According to latest figures the National average for all local 
authorities is around 89-90% so this puts South Holland at the mean 
level for this figure, in comparison Boston Council reported as the 
lowest for this figure at just over 65% of their applications agreed 
within 8 weeks or agreed extension.

       

 

 

         

P
age 49



20

Indicator % of Major applications determined within 13 weeks or agreed extension Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

# major apps detrm in 
13 or extn

# major applications 
determined

Value

Q4 2017/18 16 17 94.12%

Current Performance

# major apps detrm in 
13 or extn

# major applications 
determined

Value

Q4 2018/19 28 28 100%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

% determined within 13 
weeks (or with agreed 
extension or PPA) 

 

60%

 

Higher is better as we aim to determine all 
major applications within 13 weeks or the 
agreed extension

Extensions of time important to achieve these outcomes, in some 
cases it can be difficult to determine majors in 13 weeks when many 
need to go to Committee or have S106 agreements but it is pleasing 
to report this figure at 100% for this quarter. According to latest 
figures the National average for all local authorities is around 95% so 
this puts South Holland at the mean level for this figure, in 
comparison East Northamptonshire reported as the lowest for this 
figure at around 75% of their applications agreed within 13 weeks or 
agreed extension.

       

 

 

         

P
age 50



21

Indicator Housing Benefit LA Error Rate Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Error expenditure Total housing benefit 
expend

Value

Q4 2017/18 37,143.89 16,720,839.04 0.22%

Current Performance

Error expenditure Total housing benefit 
expend

Value

Q4 2018/19 35,738.89 15,347,919.09 0.23%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Local Authority error in 
Housing Benefit 
overpayment 
Amount of benefits 
overpaid divided by 
benefits paid (% of overall 
expenditure) 

 

0.42%

 

Lower is better as we look to minimise the 
amount of money paid in error and reduce the 
risk of financial penalty (which occurs above 
0.48%) 

A pleasing start to the year where we are looking to keep on top of 
error in light of reduced expenditure caused by Universal Credit. This 
is a very positive figure as the implications of this figure breaching 
0.48% would result in 40% subsidy payable by the council for all of 
the LA official error and Admin delay overpayments•

     

 

   

         

P
age 51



22

Indicator Business Rate In Year Collection Rate Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable debit Value

Q4 2017/18 26,121,743.82 26,453,737.32 98.75%

Current Performance

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable debit Value

Q4 2018/19 26,535,509.66 26,996,004.67 98.29%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Amount of Business Rates 
collected in the year 
against the total 
collectable debit 

 

97%

 

Higher is better as we look to collect as much 
of the business rates debit as possible 

Pleased to report KPI is ahead of target following an analysis of 
outstanding current year liabilities appropriate proactive exercises 
have been and continue to be undertaken over the remainder of the 
financial year to ensure we maximise the in year collection rate.

         

         

P
age 52



23

Indicator Council Tax In Year Collection Rate Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable debit Value

Q4 2017/18 42,467,496.21 43,305,465.16 98.06%

Current Performance

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable debit Value

Q4 2018/19 45,238,842.11 46,243,933.59 97.83%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Amount of Council Tax 
collected in the year 
against the total 
collectable debit 

 

97%

 

Higher is better as we look to collect as much 
of the Council Tax debit as possible 

This is a positive figure to report as we finish the year above target 
for council tax collected. Last financial quarter had seen in increase 
in the collectable debit a result of changes to discounts and new 
properties entering the valuation list. As anticipated the impact of 
Local Council Tax Support and the roll out of Universal Credit within 
the district did have an adverse impact on collection but resources 
continue to be specifically targeted to undertake pro-active exercises 
to maximise in year collection.

         

         

Indicator % of due rent collected on Welland homes properties Trend Chart

P
age 53



24

 

Same Period Last Year

Due rent actually 
collected

Due rent to be 
collected

Value

Q4 2017/18 10,144.7 10,144.7 100

Current Performance

Due rent actually 
collected

Due rent to be 
collected

Value

Q4 2018/19 13,175 13,175 100

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

The percentage of rent 
collected from maximum 
possible rent to be 
collected

 

95
 

A higher % is better as we look to collect as 
much of the due rent as possible

There is Additional income to report compared to last quarter as 3 
additional properties have now been let, full rent collection continues 
and this figure remains at 100%

 

P
age 54



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Housing and Executive Director - Commercialisation 
(S151)

To: Cabinet Tuesday, 23 July 2019

Author: Caroline Hannon – Strategic Housing Manager

Subject Welland Homes Business Plan Update incorporating Bentley Court

Purpose: To present to the Council, as sole shareholder for Welland Homes Ltd, an 
updated Welland Homes Business Plan and a proposal from the company to 
purchase five houses for the purposes of market rental investment at Bentley 
Court, Spalding. To put in place the necessary arrangements to enable the 
company to move into contract on the proposed acquisition, subject to the 
necessary shareholder approvals.

Recommendation(s) to Cabinet: 

1) To approve the business case for the acquisition by Welland Homes Ltd of five houses at 
Bentley Court, Spalding, for the purposes of a market rental investment. 

2) That subject to the refreshed business plan and the budget being approved, that 
delegated authority be granted to the Executive Director - Commercialisation (the S151 
Officer), to approve the terms of any loan agreements required and the value of any 
periodic cash flow payments to be made to the company, as required to support the 
company in the acquisition of the proposed investment properties. 

Recommendation(s) to Council: 

3) That the updated Welland Homes Business Plan be approved, and included as an 
amendment in the SHDC quarterly finance report to members for quarter 1 2019/20. The 
original Capital Program was, included as Appendix E to the Budget, Medium Term Plan 
and Capital Strategy Report to Council on 27th February 2019, as Item 11 on the agenda.

4) To reaffirm the delegated authority, granted by Council on 25th March 2015, to the 
Executive Director – Commercialisation (the S151 Officer), to approve the final mix of use 
of reserves and borrowing in line with the business plan and Council Treasury 
Management Strategy.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Welland Homes was established by SHDC in 2015. The principal objectives for setting up 
the company were to increase housing supply to address demand; to boost the local 
economy; to improve the quality of rented sector accommodation; to set standards for good 
housing design; and to generate income for the Council.  

1.2 The Council is the sole shareholder of the company and the company’s business plan can 
only be amended with the approval of the shareholder.  However, the company has five 
nominated directors who oversee the activity of the company. The current adopted 
business plan is predicated on the company owning 60 homes by 2022/23.  

Page 55

Agenda Item 10.



1.3 The company now owns 30 market rented homes across 3 sites:

Scheme name Number of dwellings Handover date Development type
Walters Close, 
Spalding

15 2017/18 Acquisition of 
completed dwellings 
from developer, with 
discount on OMV

Tennants Close, 
Long Sutton

5 2018/19 Acquisition of 
completed dwellings 
from developer, with 
discount on OMV

Pankhurst Close, 
Spalding

10 2019/20 Welland Homes 
design and build 
contract.

1.4 Capital funding for new schemes is financed through a mixture of loans (at commercial 
rates) and equity provided to the company by the Council.  Given the current Bank of 
England base rate, the authority earns a margin on the interest charged to the company.  
Additionally, the authority earns a return on the equity invested.

1.5 In return, the company receives the rental income and pays interest on the loan and can 
distribute dividends.  

1.6 The company incurs core business (operating) costs such as insurance, accountancy 
services, legal expenses and reimbursement of SHDC staff time for administering board 
meetings.  

1.7 Properties owned by Welland Homes are currently managed by Ark Property Services; a 
private letting agent with experience of operating in the market rented sector within the 
district. 

1.8 The Welland Homes business plan was most recently updated in March 2018 when the 
Council approved funding for the Pankhurst Close scheme of ten market rented dwellings, 
which has since completed.

2.0 NEW BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY – BENTLEY COURT

2.1 Welland Homes is continuing to pursue further investment activity for the purposes of 
market rent to comply with its business plan.  This business plan assumes a further scheme 
of 10 dwellings will be secured by April 2020. 

2.2 The SHDC Housing Development Programme Manager has been seeking new 
development opportunities.  This has involved liaison with agents, property developers and 
housing associations that are delivering mixed-tenure schemes within the district.

2.3 During February 2019, the SHDC Housing Development Programme Manager was 
approached by Seagate Homes, through the current property management provider, Ark 
Property Services, to offer Welland Homes the opportunity to acquire five properties at 
Bentley Court, Spalding.

2.4 The proposal was initially appraised by officers to consider whether it complied with the 
objectives of Welland Homes and whether, subject to an agreed price, the acquisition 
would provide an appropriate return for Welland Homes and the shareholder.

Page 56



2.5 On 5th March 2019, at a Welland Homes board meeting, the company directors considered 
a new business report relating to the proposed acquisition.  The report indicated that the 
dwellings were likely to complete in September/October 2019.  However, Seagate Homes 
has more recently confirmed that the homes are likely to complete earlier in August 2019.

2.6 Following extensive consideration of the business case associated with the acquisition, the 
board identified that the scheme met their objectives:

- The scheme will make an appropriate return to Welland Homes to enable the debt to be 
serviced.

- The scheme is in Spalding which is a location with high demand for private rented 
accommodation.

- The size of the scheme is appropriate. Whilst the business plan had anticipated that 
‘scheme number 4’ would provide ten dwellings, this proposal will add value to Welland 
Homes’ property portfolio.

- Whilst the acquisition of solely 3 bedroom houses is more expensive than a scheme 
including a mixture of different property types, officers are confident, based on the 
current understanding of the rental market that the properties will be in high demand for 
private rented accommodation.

- The scheme will provide good quality accommodation. 

2.7 The board also considered the scheme costs identified in the business case (financial 
evaluation), details of which can be found in confidential Appendix 1.

2.8 Having regard for the business case, Welland Homes board identified that the scheme met 
their objectives in terms of size, location and property type and return on investment.  The 
board resolved to agree the following: 

“…that the Company would submit a ‘subject to’ offer to Seagate 
Homes to purchase the units at Bentley Court (previously known as 
Banbury Close) Spalding and negotiate with the developer in order 
to secure the best price. […] Any offer would be subject to due 
diligence, contract, valuation and formal approval by SHDC (as sole 
shareholder) and the Board. “

2.9 Following this board resolution of 5th March 2019, a number of offers were submitted to the 
Vendor for the five properties, subject to contract, due diligence, formal valuation and full 
approval and a price was agreed on the15th April 2019.

3 Financial Evaluation

3.1 On 21st May 2019, Welland Homes board met to assess the impact of this scheme on a 
refreshed business plan.  Directors commented that whilst they would prefer to be in a 
position to deliver 10 new homes by April 2020, they are satisfied that this scheme meets 
their objectives and they agreed:

- That the opportunity progress to being considered at Cabinet and Council;

- That, subject to the approval of the sole shareholder, and the relevant legal due 
diligence and appropriate professional review, Welland Homes Ltd purchase 5 units at 
Bentley Court, Spalding, to be let as market rent properties, as per the refreshed 
business plan assumptions;

Page 57



- That, subject to the approval of the sole shareholder, and the relevant legal due 
diligence and appropriate professional review, Welland Homes Ltd approve the 
amended Business Plan including the purchase of 5 units at Bentley Court, Spalding, to 
be let as market rent properties, as per the business plan assumptions.

3.2 A further meeting of the board occurred on the 11th June 2019 to consider additional 
information in relation to the Management Company cost estimate confirmed by the 
Developer during the intervening period. The detailed Management Company costs were 
factored into the appraisal model and the results reviewed and discussed.

3.3 The board noted the revised return generated, utilising a prudent level of rental income 
assumed and agreed unanimously to proceed with the acquisition and for the business plan 
to be proposed to Cabinet and Council

3.4 In order to enable Welland Homes to proceed with this project, the company is seeking 
approval from the shareholder to put into place all of the necessary arrangements to enable 
the company to complete the proposed investment. 

3.5 These arrangements include Cabinet approving the business case for the acquisition and 
recommending to Council that a loan be made available to Welland Homes to acquire the 
units.  

3.6 Approval will then be sought from Council to approve the changes to the Company’s 
business plan (in its capacity as sole shareholder), and to make available all necessary 
finance to enable the company to acquire the units.

 
3.7 A ‘Proforma B’ has been prepared to enable the authority to cover the costs associated 

with necessary due diligence. This includes the appointment of a solicitor to prepare a 
Report on Title to ensure the units have good and marketable title.  These costs will 
transfer to Welland Homes as part of the Total Commitment in the Loan agreement in the 
event that the scheme is approved by the shareholder.

3.8 Funding was also sought to appoint a formal valuation as part of the due diligence. This 
has been carried out by local firm Longstaff who are a Royal Institute of Chartered 
Surveyor (RICS) registered firm.

3.9 The valuation has confirmed that the agreed purchase price of the five units is below open 
market value, and that the scheme achieves value for money as a prudent discount is 
being achieved. The valuation is attached at Appendix 3.

4.0 RISK

4.1 Acquisition and development activity has within it inherent risks. Officers strive to identify 
and manage risk at each stage of the process of project consideration, and at regular points 
as opportunities progress through the governance process.

4.2 The risks associated with Bentley Court have been reviewed and discussed by the board at 
each board meeting and this project has been added into the risk register for the company.

4.3 The key risks for the company associated with this acquisition are identified below:

- Developer does not deliver project, as agreed. This is being mitigated by entering 
into a Contract negotiated between Welland Home’s Solicitor and the Vendors legal 
team. In addition to the legal framework entered in to Welland Homes will ensure clear 

Page 58



lines of communication with the Developer and regular visits to site to ensure that the 
scheme is progressing and at a decent standard, are being carried out.  

- Contract negotiations are unsuccessful. Key terms have been agreed. Early review 
of draft documentation has been carried out and Welland Homes have been open from 
an early stage regarding the governance required in order to proceed. 

- Difficulties in letting the properties. A professional marketing agent is in place to 
manage and market the dwellings early. Discussions are underway with the Developer 
to propose early advertising in advance of contract due to timescales. Financial 
modelling does include prudent assumptions around void rates and rental income in 
order to safeguard the return expected.  

- Quality is not as expected. Financial modelling includes an allowance for a clerk of 
works to carry out a purchasers snag prior to completion to ensure that units are 
handed over with a good standard of workmanship. Insurance documentation will be in 
place and units will be covered for 2 years by the developer.

- Cost of Management Company Costs relating to the scheme increases at a faster 
rate than rental inflation.  Welland Homes will seek to have a representative on the 
Management Company Board.  Should the costs significantly compromise the 
investment long term, the asset benefits from having a greater degree of liquidity than 
other asset classes (e.g. commercial units) and so other exit strategies could be 
considered. 

4.4 The key risks for the Authority as sole shareholder are as follows:

- Financial. This risk is mitigated by the efficient running of the Company and the 
delivery of the Business Plan. The Council are prudent lenders and oversee their 
investment by regular involvement at Board Meetings and by the checks and balances 
required to progress Welland Homes investment activity.   

- Reputational. As above, this risk is mitigated by efficient running of the company. 
Professional advice and due diligence is sought at every stage of the process and 
effective governance processes are in place to review and monitor all activity. Officer’s 
review Welland Homes activity with the Shareholders interests in mind, as well as that 
of the Company. 

5.0 IMPACT OF BENTLEY COURT ON THE BUSINESS PLAN

5.1 The current total investment required to deliver 60 properties across six schemes is set out 
in the refreshed Business Plan in confidential Appendix 2.  The key changes to the 
Business Plan since it was last approved in March 2018 are summarised below:

a) The proposed purchase of 5 units at Bentley Court Spalding in 2019/20 which replaces 
notional ‘Scheme 4’ of the original business plan which was proposed to be for 10 units.  

b) The Bentley Court units are anticipated to bring in some rental income by December 2019 
which is earlier than anticipated from ‘Scheme 4’ of the previous version of the business 
plan.

c) The outstanding 5 units from ‘Scheme 4’ have been forecast to carry over into notional 
‘Scheme 5’ which is due to be delivered in 2020/21. 

d) The capital costs for scheme 5 and 6 reflect the costs built into the original business plan 
and have not been reforecast.  However, it should be noted that the costs associated with 
Scheme 4 (Bentley Court) are higher than the costs originally forecast for schemes 4, 5 and 
6.  This indicates that the environment for business is changing and accordingly, it is 
possible that capital costs associated with schemes 5 and 6 could also increase once 
identified opportunities are modelled. 

Page 59



e) The Core Business (Operating) costs for Welland Homes from 2019/20 onwards are 
forecasts.  They have been calculated based on the actual 2018/19 company costs, with an 
inflation figure added.  Accordingly, the business plan is predicated on forecasts only. It is 
possible that the Core Business (Operating) Costs could increase further.  Individual 
projects have little effect on the core business costs.

f) Gross Scheme Returns are based on accurate forecasts of likely rental income.
g) New projects may incur small losses in the first few months after completion.  This is due to 

loans incurring interest immediately following completion, and also the likelihood that 
properties may not be fully occupied immediately.  However, all projects will quickly make 
positive returns, contributing over £146K per annum after loan interest costs by 2022/23.

h) Gains of £626.5K (£507.5K after tax) arising from the revaluation of existing properties, up 
to 2018-19.  Members should be mindful of the fact that property values could go up or 
down.

i) Welland Homes Ltd should be in the position to pay a dividend by 2021-22 and in future 
years. This is because the cumulative retained loss is cleared, accumulated profits retained 
within the company become a positive figure and cash in the bank is in excess of business 
needs.

j) Borrowing reaches £5.66M and the Council’s equity investment is £3.20M by 2022/23, 
giving a total of £8,86M of SHDC invested in Welland Homes Ltd

5.2 The detailed projected financial impact of the refreshed Welland Homes Business Plan on 
the Council is set out in Appendix 5.  It demonstrates that with the benefit of the Bentley 
Court scheme, there continues to be a beneficial financial return to the Council from 
Welland Homes activity. This is forecasted to be revenue savings of over £0.297m per year 
by 2022-23.

5.3 The Bentley Court scheme provides a lower 30 Year Return on Equity than the previous 
schemes in the Welland Homes Business Plan. This is attributed to the purchase price for 
these units being high compared to the previous schemes due to a number of factors: 

 The other acquisition schemes; Green Lane and Tennants Close were agreed in 
2016 and 2017 respectively. Since these were agreed property prices have continued 
to rise in the district, and the quantum of investment opportunities on the open market 
has decreased. This is evidenced by the significant increase in asset value of 
Welland Homes existing assets at Walters Close and Tennants Close since the 
original purchases were completed.

 The scheme comprises all 3 bed properties rather than a mixture of 2 and 3 bed 
which would reduce the average cost per unit.

 The scheme is only 5 units and so it doesn’t benefit from the same economies of 
scale as at Pankhurst Close and Walters Close.

 The scheme is located in a higher value part of Spalding compared with previous 
acquisitions at Walters Close.

 Pankhurst Close was a development scheme as opposed to an acquisition. A 
development scheme balances higher risks (due the risks involved in constructing the 
properties as opposed to simply acquiring them) with potentially higher rewards, and 
therefore it is not directly comparable with an acquisition opportunity so needs to be 
considered separately. 

5.4 The current modelling assumes that the Council’s investment in Welland Homes will be 
funded through internal borrowing. While the Bank of England base rate is so low this will 
mean that the Council can achieve a higher rate of interest from Welland Homes than by 
investing elsewhere.  However, it should be noted that, as this is a long term investment, 
there is a risk that if the base rate increases there may be an ‘opportunity cost’ to the 
authority. 

Page 60



5.5 In line with the delegated authority granted by Council on 25th March 2015 and re-affirmed 
within the recommendations within this report, the Executive Director - Commercialisation 
(the S151 Officer) will approve the final mix of reserves and borrowing in line with the 
business plan and Council Treasury Management Strategy.

5.6 The element of funding that comprises a loan or loans will be subject to a formal loan 
agreement or agreements which may be protected by way of a charge against the 
company’s assets generally (a floating charge) or against specific assets. Delegation to the 
Section 151 Officer is sought to approve the terms of any such agreements.

5.7 Delegation to the Section 151 Officer is also sought to approve the process required for the 
Company to draw down periodic cash flow payments if required. 

6.0 OPTIONS

Option 1 – To approve the business case for the acquisition by Welland Homes Ltd of five 
houses at Bentley Court, Spalding, for the purposes of a market rental investment. 

Option 2 – Do nothing. Without the approval of the shareholder, Welland Homes would be 
unable to proceed with the proposed investment. This in turn would limit the delivery of 
housing from Welland Homes under the existing business plan and leave the company 
unable to deliver forecast returns. 

7.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

7.1 To approve the business case for Welland Homes to acquire five homes at Bentley Court, 
Spalding in order to realise the expected benefits as detailed below.

8.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

8.1 The acquisition of 5 homes will support the delivery of the wider Welland Homes Business 
Plan, which will in turn support the delivery of savings targets set out in the Council’s 
Medium Term Financial Plan.

9.0 IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Constitutional & Legal

9.1.1 Whilst operational matters in respect of the company are executive functions, the changes 
proposed to the business plan result in a need to change the budget. As a result, the final 
decision is reserved for Council.

9.1.2 An external solicitor will be appointed to ensure that Welland Homes will comply with the 
legal requirements relating to the acquisition.  A review of the loan agreement, which drawn 
up by Eversheds on behalf of South Holland District Council, has been carried out by the 
Council’s Solicitors previously and the same template agreement is proposed to be used for 
this acquisition. 

9.1.3 The proposed revisions to the business plan are consistent with the agreed objectives of 
the company.

9.2 Contracts

Page 61



9.2.1 In capitalising Welland Homes as a means to enable the company to deliver the project, the 
Council will utilise a loan and equity agreement, prepared by external legal advisors. This 
loan and equity agreement will act as a contract between the Council and Welland Homes 
in relation to the financing arrangement between the two parties.

9.3 Corporate Priorities

9.3.1 The recommendations contained within the report will make a notable contribution to the 
realisation of the Council’s corporate priority around ‘Your home’. 

9.3.2 The opportunity supports the “delivery of new homes through [SHDC’s] housing 
companies…Welland Homes” and also “delivery of housing solutions to meet local needs 
and aspirations.” 

9.3.3 The recommendations also support the Council’s objective to “ensure that our residents are 
enabled to live in high quality housing no matter the tenure.” 

9.4 Financial

9.4.1 There is a detailed financial report with financial implications set out in the confidential 
appendices attached. 

9.5 Reputation

9.5.1 In order to mitigate reputational risk, a robust risk management structure sits around the 
administration of Welland Homes as a company. Reputational risk is a key consideration 
within this structure, and is being proactively managed by the project team.

9.5.2 In order to manage reputational risk in terms of the timeframe around the acquisition and 
the required governance, the project team have met with the Developer to clearly articulate 
the caveats within the offer, and the process surrounding the opportunity, so all parties 
have clear expectations. 

9.6 Risk Management

9.6.1 In order to mitigate risk, a robust risk management structure sits around the administration 
of Welland Homes as a company. This risk management structure has been created to 
manage the financial, legal, delivery, strategic and reputation risks associated with the 
activity of the company. A risk register for the company is reviewed by the board and a 
separate risk register, from the perspective of the Authority is reviewed at the internal 
project group meeting. 

9.6.2 Risks around acquisition activity are sought to be mitigated through regular review and the 
appointment of professional expertise to provide legal due diligence, and accredited 
valuation advice to ensure value for money, in terms of the cost of the opportunity. 

9.7 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

9.7.1 Welland Homes has an ambition to purchase the homes in August 2019. The financial 
modelling of the opportunity has prudent assumptions around income generation and 
assumes the units are let from December 2019. This is in advance of the previous business 
plan expectations. 

9.8 Transformation Programme

Page 62



9.8.1 Detailed revenue savings arising from the Council’s investment in Welland Homes are set 
out as part of Confidential Appendix 5. Forecast revenue savings of over £0.297m per year 
will be achieved by 2022-23 as a result of this investment and the wider business plan.

10.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

10.1 All 

11.0 ACRONYMS

11.1 None

Lead Contact Officer:

Name and Post: Caroline Hannon, Strategic Housing Manager (shared)

Telephone Number 01775 764539

Email: Caroline.Hannon@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Y

Exempt Decision: Partially exempt

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Confidential Appendices attached to this report: 

(Please note that the following appendices are not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 
(Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 
authority holding that information))

Confidential Appendix 1 – Bentley Court business case (financial evaluation)
Confidential Appendix 2 – Welland Homes Business Plan
Confidential Appendix 3 – Bentley Court Valuation
Confidential Appendix 4 - Financial Impact of the Welland Homes Business Plan on the Council

Page 63

mailto:Caroline.Hannon@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 65

Agenda Item 13.
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	7. Recycling Review
	Appendix A for Recycling Review

	8. Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2020/21 - Consultation
	9. Q4 2018-19 Performance Overview Report
	Appendix 1 for Q4 2018-19 Performance Overview Report

	10. Welland Homes Business Plan Update incorporating Bentley Court
	13. Welland Homes Business Plan Update incorporating Bentley Court

